2017

## State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Steven Williams, Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## INTRODUCTION

Steven Williams was convicted of aggravated assault (domestic violence); four counts of domestic violence in the presence of a child; and interference with an arresting officer. R.383-85. Mr. Williams seeks reversal of those convictions because his trial counsel performed deficiently, and he was prejudiced by that deficient performance.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

All of the issues raised on appeal involve claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. As these claims are raised for the first time on appeal, no statement of preservation is provided. *Cf.* Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(B). Instead, each of these claims operate within an exception to this court's preservation requirement:

Ineffective assistance of counsel is thought of as an exception to preservation because a claim for ineffective assistance does not mature until after counsel makes an error. Thus, while it is not a typical exception to preservation, it allows criminal defendants to attack their counsel's failure to effectively raise an issue below that would have resulted in a different outcome. Such a claim can be brought in a post-trial motion or on direct appeal.

*State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, 23, 416 P.3d 443 (citation omitted). The standard of review applicable to all of these claims is as follows:

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law. To prove ineffective assistance, [Defendant] must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, in that it fell below

an objective standard of reasonable professional judgment and (2) that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial-i.e., that it affected the outcome of the case.

*State v. Christensen*, 2014 UT App 166, 10, 331 P.3d 1128 (cleaned up).

1. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to object to expert witness testimony, which was considered by the jury in violation of the rules of evidence?
2. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel when they failed to object to incomplete and erroneous jury instructions?
3. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel by:
  - a. Failing to object to inadmissible hearsay?
  - b. Failing to object to inadmissible character evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History and Disposition Below

A jury convicted Steve Williams of one count of Aggravated Assault, a second degree felony; four counts of Domestic Violence in the Presence of a Child, and one count of Interference with an Arresting Officer. R.383-85. The jury found Mr. Williams not guilty of Driving Under the Influence of Drugs/Alcohol. R.384.



## Statement of Facts

On the evening of January 9, 2016, Steve Williams and Audrey Wallace were at home when Audrey saw a text on Steve's cell phone "from a girl that he had been hiding having a conversation with." R.546. Seeing the text made Audrey feel "[r]eally sad" and she confronted him about it. R.547. Steve asked for his phone back, to which Audrey refused and then Steve tried to get it from her. Audrey responded by throwing the phone at a fish tank in the house. R.549.

Wallace testified that after she threw the phone, Defendant "grabbed ahold of [her] arm and then he did, like, this weird twisting and then he shoved [her] down." R.550. The prosecutor asked Wallace whether this hurt her, but she said it "just kind of stunned" her. R.550. While Wallace was on the ground, Defendant "offered to pick [her] up," R.551, but Wallace declined and instead got up herself, grabbed Defendant's phone, and proceeded to the back deck to call the woman who had text messaged Defendant. R.552.

Shortly thereafter, Wallace made her way back inside. R.552. Although Wallace did not "know how," Defendant ended up in front of her. R.553-54. "[T]hen all of a sudden [she] felt something hit [her] in the back of [her] head and it kind of just stumbled [her] forward." R.554. She asked Defendant if he had just hit her, and he said nothing. R.554. Wallace claimed that whatever hit her left a

knot on the back of her head for a few days. R.554. No one was in the kitchen to observe Wallace being struck in the head. R.555.

Steve Williams' son, Sean Williams, was in another room and heard "[k]ind of like a slap to the face." R.620. He "ran to the kitchen to see what was going on." R.620. He found Defendant and Wallace in the kitchen, but he did not know who had slapped whom. R.620, 649. However, he later explained that he heard his father say "ow." R.665. He saw Williams "puffing out his chest" while walking toward Wallace and saying, "Do that again one more time." R.622, 623. Wallace responded by pushing Defendant away. R.623. When she would push him away, her hand "would slide up and [Defendant] would make, like, a choking noise." R.665. She also hit Defendant both with an open and a closed hand. R.650.

According to Wallace, Defendant had been provoking Wallace to hit him. R.555. Wallace responded, "I'm not hitting you, you piece of shit cheater."<sup>1</sup>R.555 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Defendant allegedly hit her in the jaw with a closed fist. R.556. Wallace "fe[lt] like it knocked [her] out." R.556. Sean Williams and daughter, Stephanie

---

<sup>1</sup> While Wallace admitted using this language, she later maintained that she would never have threatened Defendant by saying, "I will show you, you motherfucker," because "[t]hat is an ugly word that . . . would never come out of [her] mouth." R.592 (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Williams, also testified that Defendant punched Wallace in the face.<sup>2</sup> R.624, 677.

The next thing Wallace knew, Son was "trying to . . . grab [Williams] away from her" but Defendant "kind of shrugged him off." R.557. Wallace does not know if Defendant hit her again. R.558. Wallace said she "fe[lt] like" Son's friend, Trevor, was also there, but she could not say whether other children were present. R.558.

Wallace retreated downstairs because she "was embarrassed and shocked and just wanted to get away." R.558-59. She "didn't realize [her] face was all jacked up until one of the kids saw it and pointed it out." R.559. The police eventually responded, and Wallace's son-in-law took her to the hospital. R.560-61. She spent a few days in the hospital, during which time she underwent surgery to realign her jaw. R.563-65. She spent the following two months on a liquid diet, R.566, and explained that she will have ongoing issues with her jaw. R.568-69. The doctor who saw Wallace and developed her treatment plan testified that Wallace had fractures on both sides of her jaw. R.769, 770. The doctor also explained that it "takes a considerable amount of force" to cause the sorts of injuries sustained by her. R.773.

When asked if she remembered fighting back with Williams, she said she

---

<sup>2</sup> Defendant's son claimed Defendant punched Wallace up to five times. R.625, 628. Defendant's daughter did not recall how many times Defendant hit Wallace; "a lot though." R.678.

tried to "block" Defendant, might have pushed him, but did not remember ever trying to choke Defendant or put her hands around his neck. R.569-70. She did not, however, foreclose the possibility that that "may have happened." R.570. On cross-examination, Wallace proclaimed at one time, "I've never touched him," yet she acknowledged that in 2015, she assaulted him, which led to the couple splitting up for a period of time. R.573.

Also during the course of cross-examination, Wallace indicated multiple times that she could not remember certain details leading up to and including the night of the incident: She did not recall who initiated contact after the two had broken up in 2015. R.574. She did not recall whether she text messaged the woman back who had text Defendant's phone. R.582. There was a brief amount of time, purportedly after Defendant hit her, that she could not "recall and things are hazy." R.593-94. She did not know where or how she was holding Defendant's phone when he asked for it back. R 586. She did not recall telling any of the responding police officers that she grabbed Defendant by the throat. R.597. Wallace nevertheless maintained, "I did nothing physically to him." R.588.

In the statement Son wrote for police immediately after this incident, he said that Wallace was punching and choking Defendant. R.638. He explained away the inconsistencies between his testimony at trial and his written statement by

saying on the night of the incident, he "was tired." R.638. Son further muddied the waters on cross-examination when he said his written statement was "not wrong," and that in the kitchen, Wallace was "pushing or choking or, you know, hitting [Defendant's] throat or whatever," and after Defendant said, "Do that one more time," "she did," and then "that's when" Defendant hit Wallace. R.653-54.

There was confusion in the testimony as to when Son was in the kitchen, when Wallace came back inside, and how much time elapsed, if any, between the "slap" the children heard and Defendant punching Wallace. See generally R 619-30 (Son's testimony); R 670-715 (daughter's testimony); R.789-91 (Friend's testimony).

In her statement to police, Daughter reported that her father had acted in self-defense. R.716. She also testified, without objection, that Defendant "has his own way of manipulating people." R.689. But she later affirmed that her statement to police represented "what [she] thought was going on at the time [she] wrote that" and that Defendant was not around when she gave her statement. R.716. Friend testified that at the beginning of the altercation between Defendant and Wallace, Wallace's hand was on Defendant's throat and also said that "some of her hand was kind of on his throat but then most of it wasn't." R.804. He also saw Wallace slap Defendant, followed by Defendant hitting Wallace, Wallace

attempting to hit Defendant again, and Defendant blocking the strike and hitting her again. R.805. Granddaughter further testified that she saw Wallace throw Defendant's phone, after which Defendant punched Wallace three times. R.820-21. But she did not see Son, Daughter, or Friend go into the kitchen where Wallace and Defendant were fighting. R 821. And during the fight, she plugged her ears so she could not hear some of what occurred. R.829.

Officer 1 testified, without objection, as to what he was told when he arrived on the scene. R.834-35. He also testified, again without objection, that Defendant "seriously hurt" Wallace and that she had "extensive injuries." R.835. During Officer 1's testimony, the jury was shown his body camera video, which included Defendant cursing at the officers in a string of profanities, unrelated to the facts of his altercation with Wallace. R.845-46. It also depicted Defendant invoking his right to an attorney. R.842, 844.

Officer 2 testified that she was on duty when Defendant came to the station to give a witness statement and be photographed. R.873-74. She recounted the report Defendant gave of Wallace choking him. R.874. Defendant told her that he had obtained medical records showing bruising on his larynx, scratch marks on his neck and behind his ears, tingling and numbness under one of his eyes, and bruising on his head. R 875. Officer 2 also testified that Wallace admitted to her

that she had grabbed Defendant by the throat. R.881-82. She also opined that Defendant's injuries were consistent with being choked. R.884.

On behalf of Defendant, defense counsel called just two witnesses- Defendant's mother, who was not present at the time of the fight in question, see R.907, and Defendant's friend, also not present on the night of the incident, see R.942.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defense counsel performed deficiently throughout the course of trial. Counsel should have objected to the testimony of the prosecution's expert witness, a person who had not been subjected to the threshold evidentiary foundational requirements of Rule 702. The expert, a doctor of dental surgery, improperly opined on the ultimate issue as to whether Mr. Williams had committed the crime of assault. The expert also failed to comply with the curriculum vitae requirement and, without foundation, he opined on topics like a biomechanical analysis concerning the injury or causation factors when his knowledge was limited to dental surgery.

The jury instructions failed to properly track the language of the corresponding statutes, which negatively impacted the jury's ability to consider applicable lesser included offenses. The erroneously worded self-defense

instruction also prejudiced Mr. Williams. The jury was unable to fully consider his theory of the case and apply defenses and instructions applicable to his position.



## ARGUMENT

### Point I. Testimony from the State's Expert Witness Should Have Been Excluded and Was Inadmissible

A key witness for the prosecution, David Stoker, D.D.S., was improperly allowed to testify as an expert witness without first being subject to the necessary threshold evidentiary foundational requirements either before or during trial. Utah R. Evid. 702. Prior counsel performed ineffectively in not limiting or objecting to Dr. Stoker's testimony and/or in not continuing the trial. *State v. Rothlisberger*, 2004 UT App 226, *aff'd* 2006 UT 49.

“If a witness is not testifying as an expert, testimony in the form of an opinion is limited to one that is: (a) rationally based on the witness's perception; (b) helpful to clearly understanding the witness's testimony or to determining a fact in issue; and (c) not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702.” Utah R. Evid. 701. Subsection (c) was applicable here. The State's witness, David Stoker, was not a lay witness as he opined about matters that required “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge; in other words, . . . [i]f that knowledge is not within the ken of the average bystander, then it is properly characterized as specialized knowledge.” *State v. Rothlisberger*, 2006 UT 49, ¶ 34. He was not a lay witness (due to word

count limitations, facts or arguments from other sections of the brief are cross-referenced and incorporated into one another).

A. Defense Counsel Failed to Subject Dr. Stoker's Expert Opinion To Rule 702's Threshold Evidentiary Requirements

David Stoker's testimony was full of medical jargon, R 765-85, his opinion was technical and specialized and "an average bystander would [not] be able to provide the same testimony." *Id.* at ¶ 34. Counsel was ineffective in not excluding Stoker's testimony due to the lack of the necessary evidentiary threshold showings. As set forth in Rule 702:

(a) Subject to the limitations in paragraph (b), a witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if the expert's scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.

(b) Scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge may serve as the basis for expert testimony only if there is a threshold showing that the principles or methods that are underlying in the testimony

(1) are reliable,

(2) are based upon sufficient facts or data, and

(3) have been reliably applied to the facts.

(c) The threshold showing required by paragraph (b) is satisfied if the underlying principles or methods, including the sufficiency of facts or data and the manner of their application to the facts of the case, are generally accepted by the relevant expert community.

Utah R. Evid. 702 (emphasis added).

In Mr. Williams’ case, there was no threshold evidentiary showing in accordance with the above rule of evidence. Prior to trial, defense counsel did not move in limine to establish whether or not David Stoker, a dentist, could in fact show that the principles or methods that were underlying his testimony were reliable, based upon sufficient facts or data, **and** were reliably applied to the facts.

*Id.* The same 702 threshold showing was similarly not shown during the trial itself, R 765-85; *see infra* Point I.B, nor did the State prove that the underlying principles or methods were generally accepted by the relevant expert community.

Utah R. Evid. 702(c).

Rather than testing the expert knowledge of Dr. Stoker, a doctor of dental surgery (“DDS”) on matters beyond the realm of his expertise (like a biomechanical analysis, laws of inertia, energy factors, etc), defense counsel simply let David Stoker opine to the jury about principles or methods surrounding the injury – without the expert witness threshold showing of reliability, without an expert witness showing of sufficient facts or data, and without an expert witness foundation for its reliable application to the facts at hand. *But see* Utah R. Evid. 702 (such requirements are prerequisites to expert witness testimony).

Expertise in dental surgery or facial reconstruction is different than the

expertise for a biomechanical analysis on the underlying injury and in Mr.

Williams' case, David Stoker's testimony was not compliant with the threshold evidentiary basis for either type of expertise under Rule 702(b)(1), (2) or (3).

For instance, David Stoker received information from a radiologist in this case, but each doctor specializes in a field different from the other. And such a doctor is limited in what his or her opinion may be based on absent appropriate expert witness designation and compliance with the rules.

Case law is clear on such expert witness distinctions and designations. A professional who views an incident may testify as an ordinary witness because of a first-hand observation. *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303. But if "the treating physician also offers an opinion as to the standard of care or whether that standard has been breached, the testimony is no longer simply factual. *Id.* at ¶ 14. In Steve Williams' case, David Stoker did not personally observe the incident at the house of Ms. Wallace and Mr. Williams. Dr. Stoker was not there and cannot be deemed a fact witness for what occurred before Audrey Wallace's arrival at the hospital. The threshold prerequisites were not satisfied, which was required before the jury considered his expert testimony as a whole.

**B. Counsel Performed Ineffectively When They Failed to Object to Expert Witness Testimony on the Ultimate Issue**

Just as the law prohibits a physician from opining about whether a standard of care has been breached, *Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, ¶ 14, the law similarly and consistently prohibits an expert from opining about whether the defendant may have committed a crime or had a defense for the involved offense.

In a criminal case, an expert witness must not state an opinion about whether the defendant did or did not have a mental state or condition that constitutes an element of the crime charged or of a defense. Those matters are for the trier of fact alone.

Utah R. Evid. 704(b) (Opinion on Ultimate Issue).

Contrary to the rule's prohibition against such influential expert witness testimony improperly impacting the jury, defense counsel performed ineffectively in allowing Dr. Stoker to state that Mr. Williams assaulted Ms. Wallace:

Q (by the State:) And based on your interaction with her, what was your understanding of how she sustained her injury?

A (by Dr. Stoker:) That she was assaulted, to my understanding, with closed fists by an assailant.

...

A (by Dr. Stoker:) Most likely there on the left posterior aspect of the mandible.

Q (by the State:) And why is that?

A (by Dr. Stoker:) It certainly is a much greater -- the fracture has greater displacement and it's -- we most commonly will see the point of impact in the left face as most assailants are right handed. So we often see the general point of impact on the right side -- on the patient's left side.

Q (by the State:) Okay. Now, based on your training and experience, how strong -- is the jaw bone a strong bone?

A (by Dr. Stoker:) Yeah, it is.

Q (by the State:) And what kind of force would it take to cause this to --  
A. Blunt force trauma like this in an assault. It takes a considerable amount of force.

A (by Dr. Stoker:) Correct. That's what I noted, yes.

Q (by the defense:) And what's also indicated in there is that she reportedly discovered her boyfriend cheating on her; correct?

A. (by Dr. Stoker:) Correct. Yes.

Q (by the defense:) And subsequently, he assaulted her?

A (by Dr. Stoker:) Yes.

Q. And then it indicates as she became very angry?

A. Yes.

R 768, 771, 772, 773, 781 (emphasis added). Dr. Stoker inappropriately addressed the ultimate issue on whether there was an assault when those matters were for the trier of fact alone. *See Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, ¶ 14 (citing *Thomas v. Consol. Rail Corp.*, 169 F.R.D. 1, 2 (D. Mass. 1996) (requiring disclosure and an expert report where treating physician offered opinion on causation and prognosis). David Stoker opined repeatedly that this was an

“assault” without any offsetting counterbalancing open-mindedness about how self-defense may come into play. The doctor’s testimony was inadmissible and counsel performed ineffectively and prejudicially in not excluding it (or eliciting it) under the plain language of Rule 702.

C. Defense Counsel Failed to Object to the Advance Notice Requirements for Expert Witness Testimony

*State v. Rothlisberger*, 2004 UT App 226, *aff’d* 2006 UT 49, holds that even if a witness is qualified to testify as an expert, the requisite advance notice still must conform with the statutory requirements:

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