Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2019

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Steven Williams, Defendant/ **Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

- A. That she was assaulted, to my understanding, with closed fists by an assailant.
- Q. And why did knowing that—why was that important for you in diagnosing her?
- A. The mechanism of injury can be important given the type of fractures and the number of fractures that we will look for.

R767-68 (in Add. B). Thus, the term "assaulted" came from Victim's report given in the course of medical assessment and treatment. Such a use is entirely appropriate. *See Lemmon*, 341 P.2d at 218. Moreover, the reference did not tie the assault to Williams.

Other references to variations of "assault" occurred thereafter (see Add. B). Dr. Stoker explained that in cases "like an assault[,]" a blow is delivered "sideways" with enough force that it could break a jaw in two places. R770. Still later, the prosecutor asked the doctor where the "primary point of impact" occurred based on what Victim said and what he learned from his own assessment. R770-71. The doctor believed the point of impact was the back left part of Victim's jaw because that's where the "greater displacement" is and, as most "assailants" are right handed, the impact will commonly occur on the patient's left side. R771. And later, when the prosecutor asked "what kind of force" it would take to cause the damage Victim suffered, the doctor responded, "Blunt force trauma like this in an assault. It takes a considerable

amount of force." R773. Read in light of the initial explanation, each of these remarks simply uses a form of "assault" as originally used by Victim: as a colloquial substitute for "hit."

Defense counsel understood this use and reinforced it on cross-examination for the jury's benefit. Counsel produced a copy of Dr. Stoker's report that was generated "in the course of [Victim's] treatment" and asked him specific questions about its contents. R780-81 (Add. B).

Q (defense counsel). ...So do you find the section where — of your report that—I believe it's entitled "History of Present Illness"?

- A. Yes, Ma'am. I see it here.
- Q. And that's what you are talking about when you talk about the information that you received from [Victim] about how her injury occurred; am I correct about that?
- A. Correct. And to a degree there's oftentimes overlap. With the admitting physicians, we use their reports as well.
- Q. Okay. And one of the things that she indicated is that she's not clear if she lost consciousness or not; correct?
 - A. Correct. That's what I noted, yes.
- Q. And what's also indicated in there is that she reportedly discovered her boyfriend cheating on her; correct?
 - A. Correct. Yes.
 - Q. And subsequently, he assaulted her?
 - A. Yes.

Id.

Thus, viewed in context, the doctor's use of "assault" to describe the blow that inflicted Victim's injuries was not a medical or legal opinion but simply a recognition of Victim's use of that term to describe the source of her injuries so he could conduct an assessment and formulate a treatment plan. As such, it was admissible under rule 803(4), Utah Rules of Evidence. *See State v. Schreuder*, 726 P.2d 1215, 1222-24 (Utah 1986)(psychiatrist's testimony about patient's statements of his history "came well within" rule 803(4)). The terminology was not argued by either party to mean anything else. Thus, reasonable counsel could conclude that no objection was necessary.

D. Williams has not proved prejudice.

Williams argues that his counsel's silence in the face of Dr. Stoker's testimony was prejudicial because "[a]bsent David Stoker's testimony, the evidence was insufficient" to support his convictions because the jury would be unable to distinguish "between bodily injury, substantial bodily injury, and serious bodily injury." Aplt.Br. 22-24.

The proper test, however, is whether there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for Williams had his counsel raised the issues he has identified. *See State v. Cantarero*, 2018 UT App 204, ¶13; *Parkinson*, 2018 UT App 62, ¶¶9, 12. To prove that, Williams must prove both (1) a reasonable probability that an objection would have succeeded, and (2) that the

successful objection would have changed the evidentiary picture enough to make a more favorable outcome reasonably likely. *See Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986). Williams has not met this burden.

First, Williams has not proved a reasonable likelihood that Dr. Stoker could not have been qualified as an expert had defense counsel required on-the-record proof of compliance with rule 702(b). *See Salt Lake City v. San Juan*, 2015 UT App 157, 353 P.3d 623 (prejudice not established for counsel's alleged failure to object to admitting officer's alleged expert testimony where defendant did not show a reasonable likelihood that officer would not have qualified as expert). In fact, the record evidence is to the contrary. *See* subsection I.A., *supra*.

Second, had counsel objected to the doctor's references to assaultive behavior, only those references would have been excluded. Not only is that testimony irrelevant to the prejudice Williams claims, but its absence is not reasonably likely to have produced a more favorable outcome for Williams in light of the remainder of the doctor's testimony that would remain before the jury.

Finally, as previously stated, had counsel informed the trial court that it had not been given the doctor's curriculum vitae, counsel would have received a continuance to obtain the document. *See* subsection I.B., *supra*. He

does not show that a continuance would have led to information that would have altered the admissibility of the doctor's testimony.

Accordingly, Williams has not shown that any objection to Dr. Stoker's testimony would have succeeded in excluding any of his testimony. Even if it had, it is unlikely to have changed the evidentiary picture. Victim testified about her injuries, the extensive treatment they required, and the lasting effects as of trial. This evidence, together with the jury instruction detailing the bodily injury definitions, would have permitted the jury to differentiate between the types of bodily injury, making a more favorable outcome unlikely absent the doctor's testimony. R340. Thus, Williams's ineffectiveness claims as to the doctor's testimony fail. *See Parkinson*, 2018 UT App 62, ¶9 (failure to prove prejudice defeats an ineffective assistance claim).

II.

The claimed instructional errors did not constitute deficient performance, and none were reasonably likely to have affected the trial's outcome.

Williams argues that his trial counsel were ineffective because they did not object to several jury instructions. He first faults the lack of an objection to both an allegedly flawed instruction for the lesser-included-offense of assault and to a narrow self-defense instruction. Aplt.Br. 24-37. He says that the result of the former is that the jury was unable to consider the lesser-included-offense of assault, while the result of the latter was that the jury

could not apply his self-defense claim to any of the lesser-included-offenses. *Id.* at 29-31,33.

He then argues that his counsel should have objected to the elements instructions for the multiple counts of domestic violence in the presence of a child. *Id.* at 37-42. He maintains that the instructions misstate the law because they do not include a requirement that the jury find he did not act in self-defense. *Id.*

Again, Williams must prove both elements of *Strickland*. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 697; *State v. McHugh*, 2011 UT App 62, ¶4, 250 P.3d 1006. Jury instructions that correctly state the law require no objection. *State v. Lee*, 2014 UT App 4, ¶22, 318 P.3d 1164. This Court views the instructions "'in their entirety'" to determine whether they "'fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case.'" *State v. Painter*, 2014 UT App 272, ¶6, 339 P.3d 107 (quoting *State v. Maestas*, 2012 UT 46, ¶148, 299 P.3d 892 (cleaned up)).

And "even when a jury instruction is erroneous, the error may nevertheless be harmless[.]" *See State v. Hutchings*, 2012 UT 50, ¶¶24-28, 285 P.3d 1183. Proof of prejudice "must be a demonstrable reality," not mere speculation. *Fernandez v. Cook*, 870 P.2d 870, 877 (Utah 1993). Errors that have an "isolated" or "trivial effect" on the verdict are not prejudicial. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96. Even erroneous affirmative-defense instructions can be

harmless given the evidence. *See State v. Starks*, 627 P.2d 88, 91-92 (Utah 1981) (error in self-defense instruction was harmless under facts); *Lee*, 2014 UT App 4, ¶¶28-33 (error in imperfect self-defense instruction was harmless under facts).

Here, Williams's claims fail because he cannot establish deficient performance where the instructions as a whole properly instruct the jury, he urges this Court to presume prejudice where no presumption is available, and he does not otherwise establish prejudice.

A. The misdemeanor assault instruction proffered by defense counsel allowed the jury to consider the lesser offense, and any error did not affect the trial's outcome.

The trial judge used defense counsel's proposed jury instruction detailing the lesser-included-offense of "assault, domestic violence." R289,347. That instruction required, in relevant part, proof that Williams

- 4. Committed an act, with unlawful force or violence, that caused bodily injury to another; and,
- 4. That resulted in substantial bodily injury to another....
 R347 (Jury Instr. 28) (in Add. C).

Williams claims that this instruction suffers from two problems. First, he asserts that the first of the above elements pertains to class B misdemeanor assault while the second pertains to class A misdemeanor assault. Aplt.Br. 24-28. The extra element, he argues, effectively combines the elements for a class

A and a class B misdemeanor into a single instruction, robbing him of a "proper instruction" as to either class of misdemeanor. *Id.* at 28-29. Second, he explains, the element for the class A misdemeanor is misstated, using the term "resulted in" instead of the statutory term "caused." *Id.* at 28. The result of these errors, he claims, was to prevent the jury "as a matter of law" from convicting him of the lesser-included-offense of assault. *Id.* at 29.

Williams does not claim that a class A misdemeanor instruction was inappropriate or that he was entitled to a class B misdemeanor instruction. *See State v. Wilkinson*, 2017 UT App 204, ¶26, 407 P.3d 1045 (rejecting assertion that counsel is deficient by not requesting every lesser included offense available). He argues only that neither was properly defined in the instruction.

But the instruction permitted the jury to convict Williams of class A misdemeanor assault. Assault is statutorily defined as "an act, committed with unlawful force or violence, that causes bodily injury to another or creates a substantial risk of bodily injury to another." Utah Code Ann. §76-5-102(1)(b) (LexisNexis 2018) (in Add. A). This is what the first #4 element required: commission of "an act, with unlawful force or violence, that caused bodily injury to another[.]" R347. If that was all the jury was required to find, it could convict him of a class B misdemeanor. Utah Code Ann. §76-5-102(1)(2). But

the instruction required that the jury find more. The very next requirement was that the bodily injury be "substantial." R347. An assault is a class A misdemeanor if the bodily injury caused by the assault is "substantial bodily injury[.]" Utah Code Ann. §76-5-102(3)(a). Thus, a finding by the jury of all of the listed elements would support a conviction for class A misdemeanor assault.

Further, use of the phrase "resulted in substantial bodily injury" instead of the statutory language of "causes substantial bodily injury" is a difference without a meaning. The charged act was Williams striking Victim's face with his fist. Whether his use of his fist "caused" the injury or "resulted in" the injury is a matter of semantics; Williams could have suffered no prejudice from the substitution of one term for the other under these facts.

Williams further argues that this Court should presume prejudice from the misdemeanor instruction because an error in instructing on the "basic elements" of the lesser-included-offense of assault can never be harmless. *Id.* at 35-36. Even if the instruction was erroneous, this argument would fail as it has been conclusively rejected in Utah. *See State v. Garcia*, 2017 UT 53, ¶¶34-48, 424 P.3d 171 (rejecting claim that prejudice may be assumed for ineffectiveness claim based on erroneous instruction on lesser-included offense which was submitted by defense counsel); *Parkinson*, 2018 UT App

62, ¶¶10-11 ("Prejudice is not shown automatically nor is it presumed in jury instruction errors attributable to counsel's deficient performance")(cleaned up). A defendant's burden to establish a "reasonable probability that the jury would have returned a more favorable verdict...if properly instructed" is well-settled. *See, e.g., Lee,* 2014 UT App 4, ¶¶26-33 (requiring affirmative showing of prejudice in addition to proof of deficient performance for not objecting to erroneous instruction).

Thus, Williams must affirmatively prove prejudice and he cannot. He claims prejudice because the allegedly improper instruction rendered the lesser-included-offense of assault a "legally unavailable option" which "as a matter of law" the jury could not consider. Aplt.Br. 29, 35-37. But, as explained, the jury was not prevented from considering and convicting him of a class A misdemeanor. *See Wilkinson*, 2017 UT App 204, ¶30 (recognizing jury could have convicted defendant of lesser offense despite fact the instruction improperly stated the crime's elements and "would have been incapable of supporting a conviction"). Further, had the jury found that the State had proved nothing more than the elements of class B misdemeanor, the instruction as written would have required an acquittal, to Williams's benefit.

And Williams cannot show that an instruction for class B misdemeanor assault is reasonably likely to have resulted in a more favorable outcome. The jury was properly instructed as to the bodily injury definitions, evaluated Victim's injury, and determined that she had suffered serious bodily injury. R339-40,383. There is no reasonable likelihood that submission of an instruction on Class B misdemeanor assault would have prompted any different evaluation of Victim's injury, making a more favorable outcome improbable.

Because the instruction, as written, permitted the jury to consider the lesser-included-offense of class A misdemeanor assault and Williams cannot show a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome had counsel objected to the instruction, his claim fails. *See Wilkinson*, 2017 UT App 204, ¶¶29-31, & n.4 (defense counsel's submission of erroneous lesser-included-offense elements instruction was not prejudicial where it had no effect on the trial's outcome).

B. Williams's failure to make a prejudice argument defeats his challenge to the self-defense instruction; regardless, any error in the instruction is necessarily harmless.

Williams also argues that his trial counsel should have objected to the self-defense instruction given to the jury. Aplt.Br. 31-33. That instruction provides, in part, "you are instructed that a person is justified in using force

likely to cause serious bodily injury only if the person reasonably believes that force is necessary to prevent death or serious bodily injury to the person." R343 (Jury Instr. 25, in Add. C),903. Williams does not fault this language and concedes that this provision is appropriate for the five felony charges. Aplt.Br. 32-33. *See* Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(1)(b) (LexisNexis 2016) (in Add. A).

But he argues that the instruction prejudicially narrows the application of the affirmative defense by omitting any reference to the language in subsection (1)(a) of the self-defense statute: "threatening or using force against another" when he "reasonably believes that force or a threat of force is necessary to defend the person" against the "imminent use of unlawful force." Aplt.Br. 32-33. See Utah Code Ann. §76-2-402(1)(a). In other words, he claims that the instruction, as written, applies to the felony offenses with which he was charged because they involve "death or serious bodily injury" but not to any of the lesser-included offenses on which the jury was instructed. Aplt.Br. 32-33. Williams argues that this prevented the jury from considering his self-defense claim for the lesser-included offenses and rendered his counsel's performance deficient. Id.

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